
n;rERVE;;r:t:: L,\RRY TENPLE (TAPE [=7) 

August 1970, Austin, Texas 

F: This is another interview with Mr. Larry Temple in his office in Austin 

Te~~~. The interviewer is Joe B. Frantz. The date is August 13, 1970 • 

.. don't think ~.;e quite ~.Jound up the Barefoot Sanders s tory so if 

you have a paragraph or so to add to that, let's hear about it. 

T: Only a detail that related to procedure more than substance on that. 

I recall since I last talked with you that what had transpired with regard 

to:::, ~ series of nOI:!inatior:s or T .... hieh Barefoot Sanders was one, is that 

the" -,,: :~"'. originally submi tted by the President in the fall of 1968 and 

we::,' c:c:c ,,,-cted UpO::1 at the time that Congress adjourned and took its 

rec~:~~, Well, in fact it was the end of Congress. No action was taken. 

When the Congress reconvened in early January, during the last two or 

thr...: .:».3 of the Johnson Administration, the President at that time 

res"~'C: '~~e(l the names of Barefoot and several others. It was on the 

ace )~ the resubmission that Ramsey contacted John Mitchell and 

tal -~at tte President ~as doing it and why. All that transpired 

tha _ a~=2ady recounted took ?lace at that time. The nominations were 

ari. ~ace In the fall and resubmitted in January. 

F: On . o~ judiCiary, and we talked last time about Ramsey 

Cia ,- l2~icude in re=J~~2~ding appoint~ents, there was also what 

I sc C:lll .::. ~~~~ :~~: involved ~arsey and the ICC and Alan 

Boy', 
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T: Yes. Hy recollectio:1 is not precisely accurate as to the time of that 

except, again, I think it was in the fall of '68. [There is] sort of a 

hybrid situation in federal govern~ent, and that is that actions by 

federal administrative agencies are not always final. For example, if 

the Comptroller of the Currency decides that two banks can merge and it 

has no impact on competition, and he permits them to merge~ the Depart-

ment of Justice still historically has come in on many occasions to file 

suit ~nd say that that merger, even though approved by the Comptroller~ 

is violative of the federal anti-trust statutes. That's an example of 

what they do. 

t~ith regard to the particular action that happened it was a merger 

of two rai lroads in the (rortheas t--I don I t recall the precise names of the 

railroads--but an:y"':"ay because of a failing situation with regard to 

one of these railroads they had made application to the Interstate 

Commerce Cowmission--that application had begun several years prior to 

1958--had made ap?lication for approval for merger. 

The Interstate Co~_erce Co~.ission had engaged in extensive hearings 

with regard to that merger and whether or not it was anti-competitive, 

whether or not one was really a failing railroad--all the various factors 

that went into it had been heard out by the Interstate Commerce Cowmis-

sion in detailed hearings. As a result of those hearings the Interstate 

Commerce Commission concluded that there was justification for the 

merger. It was not anti-competitive. It would be beneficial to the 

seneral ?u~lic for the two railroads to merge, and therefore they 

approved the rer;er. 

The Attar~ey Ge~eral concluded from his investigation--this was 

, 
';epy iJS) UBRARY " 
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at t;:e tirr.e that Ramsey Has Attornev Ceneral--concluded from his in-

ve s::' :;ation tho. t the merger '.1Quld be anti-compe ti tive; 'twuld be viola-

tive of the federal anti-trust statutes. He concluded that the federal 

gov2=~~ent should bring action--which would be in the form of an appeal 

frc= t~e ICC decision--should bring action in the federal courts to 

pre=~ucle the merger on the grounds that it would be anti-competitive 

ane :~2re was not sufficient justification for it to permit that anti-

~ow this goes back really to the late fall or early spring of '68 

ini:::'o:lly. I know that Alan Boyd, ,.;ho was Secretary of Transportation--

and :el= ~ keen interest in this area--thought that the deciSion of the 

Int.::o :.::::::0. Corrr.2rce COr:1::lission ,,,as the correct decision and was happy 

wit:- -:::'2 22cisi.on; thought that it ought to be left alone. 

·~:~;:~.s2.'r Cl2..rk, on the other hand, thought that because it \\1as anti-

cOrt:rr' ,:~::. =:"JC that he had a responsiaility to institute legal proceedings 

to ;:::"~',:':-l::: its consurrrrnation. 1;1 any event, Ramsey did institute that 

act:':., .:.:-".:: ~h3.t action takes the form of an appeal from the ICC decision 

to t.:~ ,\?;::ellate Court. You don't ever get into the District Court. 

It ~':s~i.r2c'::y from the Interscate COffi",erce Commission to the United 

Sta::: .. : ~:)'':<::: ·:Jf • .'..?peals for the District of Columbia. Ramsey did 

ins:_:~=2 [~ac action in the Uni~ed States eourt of Appeals over the 

objection of Alan Boyd and over the objection, really, of the Inter-

state Commerce Commissioners. In any event, Ramsey pursued on appeal  

his position. The Interstate Commerce Commission and the railroads took

the primary view. At some point in the fall of 1968, the United States 

Cour = Colu~~ia rendered its decision 
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in support of the Interstate Co~erce Co~~ission and contrary to the 

position urged by Ramsey Clark. 

At that time Ramsey openly voiced the view that the United State~ 

Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia had been incorrect--as had 

been the Interstate Commerce Commission--and that he ought to ~ake the 

case to the U. S. Supreme Court. 

The importance of this rests not only in the overall issue, but in 

the ti~ing of it; because the rai~roads couldn:t merge while the case 

was being litigated. Hhile it Has involved in the courts, they were 

still status quo. 7hey couldn't really operate independently, and they 

couldn't operate joi~tly. So it was fairly important that some decision 

be reached fairly quickly. 

At the time the U~ited States Court of Appeals issued its decision, 

Alan Boyd ,.;ent to Ramsey and said; "I don't think you ought to appeal 

that decision for a lot of reasons. One, the decision is right. I knm.;r 

you felt keenly that you ought to appeal it to the Court of Appeals. I 

disagreed about that, but at least, you've done that. You've made your 

effort. You've made your point, and you've just gotten overruled. Now 

let's leave it alone. Let's don't appeal it. Let's let these railroads 

get on about their business of merging and get on about their business 

of trafficking in people and in goods." 

Ramsey said, "No. I think that this is a decision that ought to 

go to the U. S. Supreme Court. It's a basic policy decision. We ought not 

to end right i:1 the Court of Ap;H,:als. II 

~he i3s~e came to the President because Alan Boyd came to the Prcsi-

dent. L~t me say at this point thRt this was not a case, at all, in 
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'which the railroads tried to intervene and contact the President to 

my k:".owledge. Hith regard to my m.;areness of th is, I never saw the faa t-

prin::s. I don't even knm .. the la,vyers for the railroads ,vere, for exar::ple, 

nor did I see the footprints of any of the railroad people. It really 

was ~ ~atter of disagreement between Cabinet Officers over a ve~y basic 

poli=y decision. Alan Boyd went to the President and went over all of 

it wi. eh hi!Cl, and said, "Now, Mr. President, this is going to cause a 

litt~e harQ because of the delay. I implore you to instruct Ramsey not 

to a??22.1 this thing." It vas clear to me tI-at ,,,hile I wasn't present 

the ::i :-:: [ t i~e Alan Boyd ,·,ent over there, that Alan Boyd had been there 

earl~~r ~hen Ramsey was talking about appe~ling from the ICC to the 

u. S. CD~rt of Appeals. 

!h2 ?resident had periodic conferences, as I've indicated earlier, 

with ?2:::sev- and he had a conference in ,vhich this came up and I was 

pres<:'lt.:. The President repeated the arguments that had been made to hiw 

by A ~~ 3ayd, and frankly and candidly admitted to Ramsey that they had 

come "', "l.:;T\ froill Alan. 

?~sse~ said, at that point, that he recognized the Sincerity of the 

view was held by Secretary Boyd. He understood the reasons why 

Secr.:.::: =J~.'d felt the ·..Jay he did, but that he, Ramsey, still felt that 

this .~ :J:J.:3:'c policy decision. Here \Vere two railroads, and the 

dec:!. .. - "':Jld h2.\,-e an iDpact on other mergers in other transportation 

indu_ : _,:i 2.S ','c 11 as the rai lroad indus try; and that Hhile he felt keenly 

that -. ·.~2.S co::-::-ec:: in his 2.Ilterpreting of the la~v that this was 

anti· _._:~~2 wit~2~C jtisti~i~2.tion and ought to be precluded, that 

eve:: S ';::-::;;'C; :-:2 t:--.::nlgr,::: ::~:e decision ought to ultimately be tn.:lce 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



6 

by the Supreffie Court and not by the U. S. Court of Appeals for the Dis-

trict of Columbia; and that if the broad policy l-1aS going to be entered 

contrary to his position, it ought to be done by the Supreme Court. 

The President talked to R<2r.lsey tHO or three times, and he had me 

talk to Ramsey b~o or three times about it. The President sai~, r~s 

a mat~er of policy, I've looked at this because it has been brought to 

me," ar'..d I think ffiaybe one or more members of the Interstate Commerce 

COC4.ission had also talked to the President about it on the merits. The 

President said, "I "Ie taken a look at it. I agree 1;'lith what the ICC 

held, and I agree with what the G. S. Court of Appeals held. Now 

Ramsey, you've had your day, and I don't think you ought to appeal this 

to the Supreme Court." 

In any event, without being repetitive, and the meetings were 

repetitive and the conferences were repetitive and the positions taken 

were repetithre. This didn't just happen once, it happened three or 

four times, without repeating the same conversation that took place each 

time. The President said to Ramsey his position was not the same as 

Ra~sey's. He agreed with Alan Boyd and the ICC. Ramsey with the same 

fervor expressed his opinion in the same characteristic independence 

that Ramsey had. 

I think the significant thing about this story is the end result of 

it, to show the re lationship be t,.;een Ramsey and the President:. At the 

l2.st Deeting they h~d about this, and it ,,,as just the day before the 

deadli rle for t::e ri ling of the 2.??eal--the period of time between decision 

of the Court of A??eals and the tine to file an appeal in the Supreme 

d "" "', be£o~e t~e deadline. It seems to me like the 

.. 
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deadlir:.e T..;ras on a Friday, and this ~"as a Thursday, or whatever it was. 

The P~esident and Ramsey once again had a meeting and once again went 

through the sane colloquy about the positions of each. The President 

ended up by saying, "All right, Ramsey, I rve told you ~-Ihat my Viet07 is. 

I recognize that you're the la~.]yer for this government and I'm Q.ot. 

I've ~old you what my position is. It's not really a very flexible 

posi~ion. I've looked at it. I've decided ,,,hat I think. the right thing 

to d~ is, and I've told you what that is. But I recognize you're the 

lawy,:::- £0:- this government. You go back and you decide what you're going 

to do, You don't have to come back and tell me what it is. But you 

knO':.; '~~a:: mv position is. You know I think that this case ought not tc-

be a~~~a:2d and that if I were doing it, I would not appeal this case. 

But :'C'll ':'2 the law-yer; you go back and decide; and ~vhatever you decide 

is t~:? 0,"c~sion. You do whatever you think the facts justify in meri t. 

Hhat~:-:";: ::l-'.::'.t is, I may disagree ~o]ith it, but I won't disagree with your 

rigr-.'~ co: .:i:') ~vhatever itis. II 

?i~c:-.::;ey left and said, I~le 11, I'll think it over in that light." 

And L, ~2XC day, filed the appeal--to the great, great consternation and 

unha~~ > ::.'3 of Alan Boyd, I might say. Just as an aside, after we left 

offL:c: S ". .. FJ r e =r.e Court upheld the United States Court of Appeal deci$ion, 

and_ =~e ICC, Alan Boyd, and Lyndon Johnson position. 

again, the significance of it is that most people, as we talked 

aboc.:' -:-':-C:, thi:-..k '(.]ell, Lyndon Johnson's the President. He's the boss. 

He c· __ :e~e= he ~ants to. I guess techr:.ically that may be true. 

But _-.::::>::::._ ~--'lt::er I :-.e":ec sa'." hin order--I'll say Ramsey Clark, 

=2~i:'.et ~ecje~ ~~~ause I wasn't the liaison with all the 
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Cabinet members--but I never sa,\I him order Ramsey to do anything. He 

strongly expressed his views, and the independent guy that Ramsey was 

and is caJ:le to the fore. Ramsey ultimately did, in every instance I sa,v, 

just what Ramsey thought the right result was. 

F: So far as you could tell, did the President ever seem to regret not being 

a la;,,-ycr hims.e 1£; or did he feel that he I d been mixed up with enough-: 

la' .. -- ? 

T: Not really. I think the President probably thought before and thinks 

no',.; that ne' s as goo': a latvyer as any lawyer he ever knew. 

F: You wouldn't altogether dispute it. 

T No. He used to sort of poke fun at me and other latvyers about, oh, 

people being hyper-technical or thinking because they're lawyers they're 

so nruch smarter than anybody else. But it ·Has a poY:ing fun, but it 

also--y]hen the President came down to l;17anting to put a case together, 

put an argument together, he ah\lays said it, '~.;re 11, now, do it as if 

you were a lawye:::- preparing a case, defending a fellmJ for his life." 

He ahlays would come back to the characterization of a la,17yer. 1Vhether 

he ~·;as talking about a presentation on a bill to Congress, or whatever 

it was, in spoke in that type of language. 

F: Has he ever, in a sense, casual about anything he advocated? You and 

I hno" that for ~ost people there are things that are of extreme importance 

and then varyi~g degrees of lesser importance to thooe that you give 

Ii? se-:-'.rice to. If he embraced for something, ·Here all things kind of 

equally necessary? 

7 ~!ay~e i~ ~as Dec~use of the office, but he operated with whatever he was 

doin; <lS ~be 'OS(: isportant thing, t;oJhich I guess is the only 'Jay you 

" eeilV i.aJ UBRARY ,; 
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can o?erate that office. I never saw him casual about anything. I Saw 

him not indecisive, but with his mind not made up about things, willing 

to hear arguments. But as I indicated to you before, the way Lyndon 

Joh:-:soi.1 operates, unless you've Hatched the Hhole spectrum of the ~.;hole 

decision on a particular issue, you might not know that he had,not yet 

made '~D his mind; because he'd be devil's advocate with you. If you 

caree ~a and you'd voice an opinion or a view, he might immediately take 

the c:.catrary vie",; and just in effect say, "You're just the most ignorant 

pers~i.1 in the world to take that view. It's without foundation. It's 

wit~c;.:~ ~asis. It's without logic," and really take you on. Yet if 

you' ~ stand fast with you(view, if you felt you were right, and make those 

argL=~nC3 that you thought supported your view--I have quite frequently 

madE: _~:;:- ;l::::ents that he jus t really pooh-poohed and said, "That t s silly. 

You ion:= know what you're talking about. You're wrong. You don't 

understand the situation," and really demean in a not unpleasant sort of 

way and in not a really unfair sort of way, but sort of demean what I was 

saying of what my view was. Then the next day I would hear him stating 

the same arguments as his position, which is the real tell-tale sign. 

F: Was . - his ti~e spent in mediating i~ things like the ICC case where 

you' 8.r;. overlap be t:'leen Departn:ents? 

T: Not L~2t'S more of an exception than the ordinary rule of the 

sitc. ____ _ I don't recall--

F: Here :::-:::; sL:'Jjects that a Ca.'::;inet member could not come to him with, 

or i - ~., -. ~ " -: - .:.:.:: ~,::...:. ::. h::.s eye on t!:1e s~allest sparrow? I mean, did all things 

n:a t t 

T: All ___ ~.~~. Of C0~rs~, 3J~O ~~~~n2t members decided things 
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they didn't want to bring to him. First of all, Lyndon Johnson was 

amazingly accessible as I found out. 

F: Those long hours he kep t helped. If he couldn J t see you eight to five, 

he could see you five to eight the next morning. 

T: That's right. I do not know of a single instance in which a Cabinet 
. 
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r.~obe= or a key member of Congress asked to see the President that he was 

not able to see him within--probably within ~~enty-four hours. Now if 

some::,ody said, "I've got something I want to visit with the-President 

[abour:J some time. There's no hurry on it,ll it might be five or six days. 

But he could see an a=zzing number of people. 

F: There were no restrictions either on when you could call in if you had 

something on your mind? 

T: No, not at all. 

F: I presuoe his nap, except in an extreme crisis, was inviolable and 

sometirr:es--? 

T: Sure. Hhat happened on that is ,,,hen he was taking a nap:> you had to 

ring hio. through the \-Thite House operator. I must say, with regard to 

that, if I were willing to assume the responsibility for awakening him, 

if I thought I had sow~thing of such importance that he ought to be 

awakened) I could aivaken him. There l"asn' t any prob lern about that. 

Usually only sor;:ebody like ~{alt Rostow l~ould do that. Walt's about the 

only one that usually had some thing like that of that kind of urgency, 

handlir.g £orei~ c ~ . a.!..!:a1.rs. 

f: You p::-o~2.bly sa,,, hir.l c,.;akened a fCH times. Does he come out instant~y 

, . . . 
alert, or does he--? 

COGes OC~ instantly alert. When he awakens, he's right on ,top 
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of things. 

F: He never had to be told where he is and what day it is. 

T: That's right. 

F: You took at least two trips that I'm aware of with him--one around the 

wo:-ld and one to Central America--El Salvador. 

T: Right. 

F: Let's talk a little bit about those. 

T: The fil:'st one was the around-the-~yorid trip which I must say--

F: Did you have an idea. it would be an around-the-world trip? 

T: No, !.lot at all. 

F: Did yeu go prepared yourself? 

T: Not :-i::a"l.}.y. Let me put it in the context. I'd only been there a couple 

of rc~ths. I was still as green as anyone who'd only been there a 

cour~~ 0= ;:}onths, and i>7aS still feeling my way around and \vas still in 

the arc=css of being educated by the President. He was allowing me and 

askL;:; c;,.:: t I sit in on :r.eetings to kind of get the fee 1 of what was 

gain::; .):1. I already even at that time was making the early morning 

bedr~s::-, ::2 tai 1 with Marvin Watson. So I really didn't know much to be 

help ,.: ~ ::.;.:, :11.:rr. I had been to Texas with him when he had come down right 

afte :- ,-':':J the:!:'e on Veterans' Day in November of 1967. He took a 

quic~·. _c seer:',s to ",e that was the time we went out and spent the 

nigh:: ~ ~=r:-i~r off the coast of San Diego and stopped in military 

inst~:~:.-~~ .:-.s 0;; the way and co;ning back, and we got the Army, the Air 

Forc~ - . _. , ~arines, the Seabees, goodness knows what all. 

Then -~~~ O~ t~e very ab~=~vi~ted tri? to the settling of the 

Cham';' 
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on enough trips and I didn't knm. enough of the people, I didn't kno,ol 

enough of the operations really to make a contribution. I knew that and 

far more significantly, he knew that. 

Hhen Prime :Hinister Holt died, my recollection is that that was 

learned early on a Monday morning [or) late on a Sunday night. The Presi-

dent i==ediately and instinctively decided that he should go to the funeral. 

Holt had been a personal friend of his, and Australia had been and was 

a very good friend of the United States, particularly with its partici-

pation in Vietnam. So I first heard about the possibility of going to 

Australia during the middle of the day, and the thought never crossed ~iddle  

~ rr.ind that I would go. I knew I couldn't-make a contribution about it. 

Late in the evening about five or five-thirty, he called me and said, 

"Larry, have you had your shots." I said, ''t-lell, no, sir." He said, 

''Well, if you're leaving in the morning with me to go to Australia, you'd 

better go get your shots; and you'd better get your bag packed." 

F: Did you have a passport? 

T: No, I didn't have anything. I said, "Yes, sir." You know, [that's]

all you can say. In a short span of about an hour-and-a-half-, I got all 

the ir!lmunizations that ".]ere required and got the passport. It's a whole 

lot easier when you're on the nhite House staff and the State Department 

is there--will bring their people to you. It seems to me like I got--

F: The President sort of likes to introduce subjects that way anyhow, doesn't he? 

T: Exactly. I thi~k we all got like nine shots, five in one arm and four in 

anacher, all at once. 

r. You c~st have been sick for the trip. 

T: ;;0, 2.S a r:latter of fact surprisingly the ,,,ay they gave them, I don't kno~ .. 
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whether they're more adroit at it or not, but I didn't have any after 

effect. But I went and he had two planes--bJo 707's--Air Force One~ and 

then an identical copy to Air Force One with a little different configura- 

tiO:1. I went most of the trip on the second airplane. When we got ready 

to go, he said, "Larry, I want you to go and I ~.]ant you to watch and I 

want yot.!. to learn. If there's something that you can help on, Marvin will 

tell you, or I'll tell you, but I probably won't have much communication 

with you. I don't want you just to be in the bed all the time reading 

ne'Hspapers and magazines, or off in a bar sometoJ'here. I want you to be 

around watching." So I understood that it was a learning process. I 

also u~derstood that it was one of many characteristic acts of kindness 

2.::d niceness tm.;ard me. He kne'tV this ~iIOuld be a good trip that I would 

like and enjoy--

F: I~ you've got to learn, it's a good way to do it. 

T: S~re. So I'll bet I didn't have five conversations with him from the 

ti.~e ,;2 left until ~.,e got back. But he knew I 'tvas there and he gave some 

i~~~~uct~ons to Marvin a time or ~JO for a couple of things for me to do. 

B1.< oy-a.nd-large I tvas there almos t like a tourist. I yas watching. And 

wh~n ~2 got to Australia--

T: No :::2.:: r;; a third plane. 

T: RiS-:. ~;;:2" '~'e got to Australia, I was three or four rooms down the hall 

frc~. ~:2 ,;25 bringing in all these heads of s tate to see him and 

can 's conversations. I was just around knowing what they were. 

The " ~;e~t back::: sort 0: ·.~~tched the l..;ay that things Here set 
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up on, really, the spur of the moment to go into Korat Air Force Base 

in Thailand and spend the night when we weren't expected; then go from 

there back around to Cam Ranh Bay and Vietnam; and then sort of in mid-

stream work out to go see the Pope in Italy. 

I didn't go to the Vatican. It's kind of interesting. lhere were 

a lot of people that wanted to go to the Vatican with the President, and, 

obviously, the Cath~lics had ~~re interest in it than the rest of us. 

The fact that he didn't invite me to go among the ~~leve or fourteen or 

whatever people it was that l~ent in the helicopter and went to the Vatican 

didn't mean anythi~g to ~e because the thought of my going never had 

crossed my mind. I ~as just glad to be on the trip anyway. But there 

\-,ere a lot of people that had their feelings hurt because it was really 

very important to them to be there and go to the Vatican. But that was 

a trip that I was just a go-along, almost sightseer--not really a sight-

seer. I was a seer, watching what was going on, but I really made no 

contribution to it. 

I did witness the President and the President's key staff evidencing, 

better probably than almost any other occasion, the resiliency of that 

l·,hole operation, where with almost no notice the Secret Service--and when 

you go over to foreign countries, the CIA sort of works with the Secret 

Service--on the one hand; and George Christian and his advance press 

officers on the other hand; and Marvin Watson and just advance men on the 

third hand--could with little or no notice set up something in Paga-Pago 

America Samoa. There gas a nice ceremony when we landed there for 

refueli~g in the ciddle of the night. Set up something in Australia! 

Set up sacething in Thailand--in Vietnam--in Italy--in Rome!!! 

( 
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F: Has there a tendency on the part of the staff, particularly what was at 

that tine the intinate staff, to prepare for any contingency. any change 

of schedule, so that if he'd gone an)~here within a reasonable distance 

the=e would have been so~ebody who would have just automatically had the 

thing ready to go if the signal had come? 

T: 1'e s, I think so. That's particularly true of the military. ~You tve got 

to re~er.ber that it's the military that flies the President. You sometimes 

forge!: it, but it's General Jin Cross who·was the pilot--the military that 

would fly him. I think everybody generally had a. notion that there was 

a possi~ility of going to Vietnam. Here we were nearly at Christmag 

t~ne, and to come to the conclusion that the President might like to go 

see '.Jh2t he referred to as "his boys, his· troops, rr at Christmas":" time 

wouldn't be a very hard conclusion to come to. You wouldn't have to be 

vec:-y sna.rt to figure out that's a distinct possibility. But the military 

d[d make that contingency preparation. When the President got to the 

point of asking Jim Cross, "Can we go to Vietnam"  Jim Cross was not only 

iI' '1 position to say "yes tl but he was in the position to say, "I can 

ge:: ::-::u;::oer of escorts; I've checked and the safest place is Cam Ranh 

B - ,. 11 
~-- . 

I ~~member just an interesting aside that Cam Ranh Bay is really 

ha:~-S~~2d by water and half-sided by land. It's a bay. The reason for 

go"~; ~~2re, and that was the second time the President had been there, 

is ~~2: ~as ~uch further north than Saigon. It was sufficiently far north 

th~: : ~ ~25 al=ost up to the demilitarized zone; but because of the water 

pr:<~:~-:: Dr: t::2 east Side, it r,.;as thought to be the safest place in 

Vi~ . tte ?resident could land. 
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I remember that W'hen W'e la:lded there--. Gosh, it waS an impressive 

thing, because General Hes tmore land ~.as 5 till there and General Abrams 

and they met the President, and the President reviewed the troops. I 

remecber not only the enthusiasm wLth which the troops greeted the Presi-

dent--I remember that very vividly--but I remember one other thing that 

kind of stuck in my mind. 

The President p~esented medals, decorations of one form or another, 

to several people on that occasion. One was Ambassador Bunker, for 

exac?le--and some of the other civilian representatives, and to General 

Abrams. But he also presented a decoration to General Westmoreland, and 

General Hestmoreland's reception was far greater than anybody else's. ~.jhen 

the President presented the' medal to him, there really l-TaS just an ex-

tended ovation and cheering and whistling by all of the troops. I've 

seen something since that indicated perhaps Westmoreland wasn't really 

very popular with the troops, but I think that's a bunch of poppycock. 

With that one example, and I wasn't out there to see a lot of things 

happen but with that one example 1 never saw a military leader better 

received by his troops than Westmoreland was on that occasion. I think 

maybe his medal was presented last so you had a brilliant basis of compar-

ison. But that was an aside. 

Hhat I stzrted to say ,.as zbout landing there. We looked back in 

the hi lIs back off from where we ~.ere in the bay, the land part, [where 

there] '(,;rere a series of hills. I remember asking one of the military 

people, I said, "Ho;.; far are 'Yle a< .. lay from any of the enemy." 

They said, r~'Jell, do you see those hills right there." 

They seened to be very close. l'n sure mayhe ten or fifteen miles away 

..... 
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or eight or ten, but they looked like maybe they t"ere just a half-mile 

or a mile aHay. I said, ''Yes, I see those hills." 

They said, '~'lell, they're just saturated ,"ith the enemy. They're 

just si tting there ,-latching uS right now." 

That wasn't really happy news, I thought, at the time. I flaid> '~ell. 

what is to prevent ther.l from jus t shelling down here some v7ay on us. 

I'm ~ot sophisticated enough in weapons to know what they have." 

Ine response was, "Oh, they've never done it because they know that 

this is a protected area, and this is just the safest place to be. 

There's not any real worry because we can react and get back to them 

so quickly that this is protected. They've never hit here, and they're 

never going to hit here." Which was enough to console me. 

But I also remember that within sixty days from the time we got back, 

the enemy very greatly shelled Cam Ranh Bay to great devastation and 

great destruction. When I picked up the newspaper and saw  that, I was 

remin~ed of just how safe that place was where we were. 

Eut there isn't anything about that trip that I can--

F: Did yeu get the feeling from your observer's post that the troops did 

appre=:: 2. t·:; and were sort of glad that the President had come> or if they 

felt, IJL~;'::C'3 CaGes another piece of brass?" 

T: No, t:><; -;2:ce c.elighted with his presence over there. He and Hestmore-

land ~~~~ j~SC got a tremendous reception, greatly extended. 

F: By the of El Salvador trip, you're a seasoned veteran and it's 

went, 

the a: :~ 3~, I think I ~nJ~cnced--or some of the press 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



-1'1 f I 

18 

at the time of Hartin Luther King's assassination. 

The President ~.ent to Ha~"aii on two occasions. One was to meet 

President Park of South Korea, and the second one was to meet with 

President Thieu of South Viet ~;am. I went there with him on both or 

those occasions and stayed out at the Kaiser estate, which is where he 

stayed over there--which is a very expensively built. but I did not find 

a very attractive place. He was sort of isolated out of the way--

F: Where did it get the name Kaiser? 

T: It was built by Hen=y Kaiser. It was made available. It really was the 

best place for the President's stay because it did provide protection and 

isolation. It wasn't downtown in the middle of a hotel. We helicoptered 

from there to the CINCPAC headquarters which is the Conunander in Chief 

of the Pacific area. 

He had his meetings with President Thieu there, and we went to 

CINCPAC for a briefing, but I be lieve if I recall right, he met President 

Park out there at the Kaiser estate. That is where they met~ as a 

matter of fact. 

I always thought it to be an interesting commentary on our foreign 

affairs--and maybe this is sonething that people generally knew and know 

and I didn't knm.J--but you know 'Y7hen leaders of two countries meet~ 

usually at the conclusion of their meeting they have a sort of a joint 

statement. I ahlc.ys found it interesting that going to both of those 

meetings the joint stateEent was in the process of being drafted. In 

the case of President Thieu, I believe it was by Bill Bundy. Secretary 

Rusk was with us, but Bill Bundy, the Assistant Secretary of State, was 

in the process of drafting the statement before we left Washington, while 

i: 
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we were on the airplane, and he had been in communication uith his counter-

part with President Thieu. And ,.;rhoever did the President P~rk statement 

did the sawe thing. 

F: So they agreed on what they ,>lere going to agree on? 

T: Right. It was just a methodology Hith l.]hich I ,.;rasn't familiar. The 

re?resentatives of the two leaders had been working prior to the meeting~ 

and thought that these ,>lere the points that could be ironed out. I 

thi,~~ the two leaders--I ,.;ras not present at the Park meeting al though 

I was present at part of the conversation through the interpreters with 

Pres ident Thieu, and they did discuss ,.hat was in the comminque, the 

joint statement agreement. But it was fairly well agreed upon through 

their representatives prior to the meeting. You know, it was almost as 

if you could run it off in t.;rashington before youwent out there. I found 

that to be an interesting sidelight of the way foreign affairs are 

con2.:.rcted. 

F: Did the President meet these people--these opposite numbers--more or 

1es::: on an equivalent basis, or as a big potver versus little power sort 

of sitl.:ation? 

T: On a very equivalent basis--with obvious respect and affection, really, 

for t~ern. He and President Park were particularly good friends because the 

President had been to South Korea a year or two before. 

J;.:st as an interesting Sidelight, there's a story I heard the 

Pre.:;~:~:;:::: t2:l a couple of dozen times about Hhen he ~vas going. My 

numbers may be wrong, but the story still has the same significance. When 

he ~~~~ :~ South ~orea to see President Park, he said that Hhen they went 

in s.:::-::'- ~: :::)to-:.-cace, I guess ic: ' .. las, through the streets, there ,.ere 
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just literally thousands upon thousands of people. He said that there 

were jus t ,,,TaVeS of people ever~":"There he could see. He couldn I t see land; 

he could~'t see trees; he couldn't see buildings for the people. The 

land, trees, and buildings were there, but the people were there in 

such oassive nuobers. Through the interpreter he asked Presid~nt Park 

how many people there were there on the streets. President Park said 

somet!1.ing like three million--or '07hatever the population of (Seoul) 

South Korea is. The P=esident's response was, "Three million!,1t 

like that's incredible that there are so many people. President Park 

took his co~ent of three million to be a statement of unhappiness with 

the nlli~ber. He jus~ completely misinterpreted it. President Park then 

came back and said, "Hr. PreSident, I'm very sorry that I could not have 

more people, but this is all the people there are in my country! (capital)·' 

The President always liked to tell that story_ Because of that, he had 

great affection for President Park. 

Again this comes back to the gift situation. He took a hand in 

the gifts. For example, I remer.lber ,,,Then we went to see President Park, 

he ~lent to great trouble to take him a saddle. He somehow found out 

that President Park was interested in a western saddle and liked horses 

so he went to a great deal of trouble to get a saddle that he had down 

at the ranch that had been used maybe once, because he found out or the 

State D~partwent told him that the saddle that had actually been used 

on the LBJ Ran~h was better than sending off in a catalogue and getting 

one, so to S?e2k. He just delighted in giving those presents to those 

leaders as he'd be delighted in giving presents to me or my children. 

TE you, in 2 sense, h2ve ~ade up your agenda in advance and you've 

~'-
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decided on your results in advance, what's the purpose of the trip? 

Hhat did you feel came out of it? 

" I think it was a mattc:r of just keeping a close relationship to these 

countries and having the leaders believe that the President was interested 

in tnern and interested in their problems--

F; There is more to it than windmv-dressing? 

T' Yes. Were there not more to it than window-dressing, you wouldn't 

have to have any extended meetings. When you go back to two, three, 

four, and five meetings, then that indicates to you that they are getting 

into some things. 

With regard to one of those communiques, and I can't remember which--

maybe it was the President Thieu communique--I think maybe they met at 

the Kaiser house and again at the CINCPAC headquarters, there was some 

little disagreement about that. I think the Thieu representatives 

had worked out everything but one thing that they couldn't agree on, and 

the President and President Thieu got involved in it. Then they finally 

got some factor worked out--I don't even know what it was. 

F: Does the President ever express himself on Vice President Ky? 

T: I vaguely have a recollection of him saying SOrrE thing, but I don't re-

member ~hat it was. 

F: Let's get to El Salvador. 

T: The El Salvador trip was a very interesting trip. That was one, you'll 

recall, ~here he went to El Salvador to meet with all of the leaders 

of the Central American countries. Not.] that one ~'las designed very clear! 

~nd ~~q~2stionably to be one of t~ying to, not necessarily re-establish, 

'Jut carry 0'1 t~e close relationship bet:>.;een the United States and thesr 
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Central American countries. 

F: To a certain extent, that had been forecast at Punta del Este which 

precedes you. 

T: Right. t.."e went down there. I don't think there was any preconceived 

co~~~ique or really, from the State Department's standpoint,.any joint 

state~nt that they wanted to release or problems they were trying to 

work out. It was just, again, instead of inviting these people to our 

country, to show then that our President was willing to come to their 

COlli,t=r--come to the~. You know, they put a lot of store in the bigger 

Qan coming to them, I think that it was very successful from that 

standpoint, 

And then there was a little wrinkle to it that was thought up by 

somebody, I don't even know, and that is that at the conclusion of the 

22 

meeting the President ought to invite each of these leaders of the Central 

American countries to accompany him in Air Force One and let him take 

each one of them home in Air Force One. tvell, when this was tried on 

for size through the State Department and with each of these Presidents 

of the Central American countries, they were genuinely elated as I recall 

the report back; because it gave each of them great, great stature and 

prestige in their own country if they accompanied the President of the 

United States on Air Force One, 

Air Force One obviously, had become world-wide famous, really 

because or the assassination. I think that's when people first started 

hearing about Air Force One, To be able to ride on Air Force One with 

the President of the Vnited States and return you to your own country 

acco~~2nied by the President was a matter of great prestige. They all 

ir:::::ediate ly said yes. It uas to he Horked out, and it was announ~:~::: UBRARY j 
that was what was going to take place. urT ~, 
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Shortly after the announcement--problems continued to crop up in 

Guatenala, and there ,~ere many problems of insurrection going on '-lithin 

the country, and attempted overthrows of the government, and a lot of 

problems of rebels that were out trying to marshal their forces together 

to overthrow the government. The CIA and the Secret Service~ f remember 2 

ca~e in and said to the President that he ought not to go to Guatemala; 

that they couldn't guarantee his safety, and that that was their res-

ponsibility; and that he ought not to go to Guatemala. The President 

said very simply, "I'm going to Guatemala. I told the President of 

Guatemala I was going to take him home. I told him that we were going to 

go to Guatemala-- tI 

F: Is this back in Washington or after he's down in EI Salvador? 

T: Dm...,n in El Salvador. "And we're just going to do it. I can't take these 

other fe llows horne and then just--" I remember hearing him say, "And 

then let him parachute out over his country." They suggest that he not 

go, and there ,vas a lot of discussion about it, and the President was 

fairly adamant about it from the outset. 

F: He never seriously entertained any idea of cancelling the whole--? 

T: Not really, although that was suggested to him by the detective forces. 

F: If you can't and Guatemala will feel it's an insult, then don't take anybody. 

T: That's right. And I remember we decided that Guatemala, I believe, t-.7as 

the last stop. I'~ fairly sure it was. I think originally it may have 

been going to be the third or fourth stop, and then the Secret Service 

just changed that around so it would at least be the last stop--at least 

get everybody gone, so you don't have to worry about them. If you're 

tryin; to rush some people back on a plane or something, you don't have 

1;: 
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so ~any people to worry about. 

The thing that George Christian and I not-l--and only nm.;--kid around. 

about about this, and that is that when the President of the United 

States is around, everybody likes to be around him. And a lot of that is 

becc.<.lse the photographers are there taking pictures and the net.Jsreel . 
pec?le c.~d the cameramen and the TV people are taking pictures--even 

aI:lo:-_~ ~,~;.ite House staff people, even among the Secret Service, even 

amo~5 :he military~, if it's a question of standing 'way back over to the 

side or being in kind of a group around the President maybe when the 

came::-as are going. You can see it in the \,J'hite House old hands whether 

they're civilian or nilitary or Secret Service or what. When we went to 

thes2 oc~er Centr~l Acerican countries, we witnessed that kind of thing 

the ~.jdy ",e abJays did. We'd land in each one of the countries--. 

he a-'.':..;ays ,,}anted to get something from every country he had been to since 

he w~s Senator, and that the thing that he thought reflected the country 

more ~:'2.n anything that )-ou could go from one country to another and at 

leas = na'.'e: sose continuity and at least shm-l a little something about the 

cult'~::-2) '.7;:;'5 the ~ative art. He ahlays wanted to see about some art. 

He d~~ =~~= in Australia, by the way, too. 

k~~~ whether this initiated with the President or with Jim 

but the advance people that went to these countries 

alor .. - --n re~resentatives of the President of the country, arranged 

for - 'C 'J: an art sho'.·; <::.t: each airport. And t·;e'd land at each 
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airport. We'd get off and there would be a stage. The President would 

go up and make a speech and introduce each of the Presidents. The local 

President then would get up in all his glory then, be there and welcome 

the Pres iden t of the Uni ted State s. There t d be bands. I think there l..rere 

some young kids dancing at one place. It was a really very f~stive sort 

of a thing. Then we'd go inside at wherever the airport or the place we 

landed was, and there'd be sort of an art show, and the president would 

purchase a painting. I think maybe in two or three of the countries the 

Presidents of the countries presented the President of the United 

States with a painting--just gave him one,· and then maybe he bought one 

or two others. He was not asking that they give him a painting. He was 

willing to purchase the painting from artists who were willing to sell it. 

F: Did he himself negotiate? 

r: No. The price was never discussed. He ~07ould see something" and he'd say 

he liked it. ~\That happened is that there t07aS a fellow ~07ith the State 

Department who would go in then and purchase it for· the President, and then 

the President later would reimburse him. 

F: The President would pay for these personally? 

T: Yes. Because he planned to take them with him personally. He still has 

them. I guess ultimately they'll be in the Library "t07ith these tapes. 

I remember the rest of us purchased some, too. I still have some in 

my home, as a matter of fact, from that very trip. 

But each of the stops ~vas very festive, very enjoyable, delightful, 

fun things after pretty much of a fun trip to El Salvador. It had been 

kind of low key. I remember I had eaten each night with the President at 

the hore. He was staying in the Ambassador's home--

f. 
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F: l've been thre~e. That's nice. 

T: lt's a very, very nice home. I'm not thinking in order, but an interesting 

s ide light is that the Ambassador to El Salvador w'ho later was appointed--

As £ Qatter of fact~ when the President was down there, the President had 

on his desk back in t.jashington papers to name the Ambassador to Bolivia. 

F: That's Raul Castro. 

T: Yes. All I could reu-ember is a South American country. And~ by the way, 

he wa3 thuught to be an extremely able Ambassador, and all of our con-

tacts with hi~ were good. The Arnbassador~ in addition to giving up his 

ho~e to the President, which he very graciously and generously did and, 

as you knmJ, it was a very handsome home, had--I think he was referred 

to as a houseboy--hut had a Chinaman there named tvong or Chang or sOu-e-

tt, Leg. He "las just super efficient. He couldn r t speak anything but 

Soanlsn and Chinese, but he was super efficient. He was obviously very 

i~telligent and could anticipate whatever the needs were and really just 

did s. fine job and so impressed the President that I remember he told 

A:-.'~ass3.dor Castro, he said, ''YOU know, before I leave here, I may steal 

:2110\., from you. II 

.-'-.r:.d Ambassador Castro laughed and said, "Oh, that's fine, Mr. 

P~-::::ice",t, ~.-i'hatever you ~.;ant." And not just with the deference because 

he ;,'2:; ?:-esident, but I think partly because he thought the President ,.;as 

ki~~i~;, and I thought the President was kidding, too. 

-~ ,·J.:1en ,,;e got ready to go, something was said--the President 

s~~. '~:(;.ll, I r:-ight just steal that fellow from you." 

Castro said, "Well, he doesn't have any family here. How he wound 

(~.):~' t: knO~'l. ~~e doesn't h3ve any family_ They're all in Red 
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China and he would like to get out, and he doesn't have any family. 

He has said several times ha'd like to go to the United States." 

So the President said, "Well, I may just steal him from you, 

then," and laughed about that. 

And he sent somebody to this Chinaman and talked to him in Spanish 

and said, "Hm~ would you like to go to the United States and work for 

the President?" 

He just said, 'Yes, fine." 

The man said, '~.J'ell, it may not be at the White House. He may 

',.,ant you to work for him personally at his ranch." Oh, he thought that 

was fine. I think he truly did not knm-7 what a ranch was to begin with. 

He later found out there are a lot of things we take for granted that 

he didn't even understand at all. ~o comprende! And the first thing 

you knovl, right with about five or six hours notice right before lole 

ylere getting ready to leave, the fello'N says, fine, he'd like to go; and 

the President says, "Let's go." So here i~ong is on an airplane leaving 

with us, and he is now down at the LBJ Ranch. He did come back, and the 

President has just been awfully good to him. 

F: That's one way to get your life changed, isn't it? 

T: Yes. He got into this country. Somebody'tvas telling me recently he 

has been able to re-establish some kind of communication with some of 

his relatives in China. 

F: He must have been a little pop-eyed on the trip. It would have been 

nice if he had been sufficiently articulate to have been able to get 

his reaction. 

7: That's right. Then just before I get back to Guatemala, one of the 
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interesting things is, when he got back the President said now, "I've 

got to co::rrnunicate tvi th this man. Bring him in so I can talk to him and 

see if he wants to work for me down at the ranch. We've never talked 

about salary." So he got an interpreter and he talked to him, and there 

wasn't any problem on salary. I think the fellow would have worked free" 

but the President worked out what I thought to be, at the time, a very 

gen2rous salary with him. 

I remember in the bedroom one morning when he was talking to 

him about these. He was talking to him through an interpreter, said, 

lIN'ow, you te 11 Hong tha.t something has got to give. All he speaks is 

Chinese and Spanish, and all I speak is English. Either he's going to 

have to learn English or I'm going to have to learn Chinese or Spanish, 

and I'm too old to learn. Now, you tell him he's going to have to learn 

some English so he can communicate with me." So the interpreter tells 

him that. And this big smi Ie comes across the face and he says, "5i, 

si, si!" Shook his head up and down and smiled. The President really got 

on his time and time again because he wasn't learning his English, which 

he ultimately learned and is still w ith him. So that's one of the sou-

venirs the President brought back from that trip. 

F: The President can speak a minimum of Spanish, can't he? 

T: Oh, he can, sure. That vas just to make effect. 

I'll.;eC: back to the trip. Ihth regard to Guatemala~ ,vhenwe got 

reac:; t:J ;D there, we got airborne and the Secret Service says, "All 

rig~:, ~~~e we go. We're going to land, but here's the problem. The 

airport is down in sort of a valley, and it's encircled by hills. A 
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F: An exti~ct volcano. 

T: That's right. "He I ve had he licopters down there flying over the area. 

lJe are satisfied that there are a lot of these rebels who are out to 

embarrass and, if possible, probably even assassinate the President of 

Guatemala, if they can. And they're out in those hills. Th~ President 

of Guatemala with all of his security force~ combined with ours, we do 

not have enought people to just ferret out all of the people in the 

mountains and the hills. So we've got that kind of problem." So when 

we started to land~ it was suggested by some of the Secret Service that 

those that didn't essentially have to get off of the plane stay on the 

plane and not get off. 

lie 11, I remember Jim Jones and I very quickly decided that that 'Hasn r t 

going to fit our pistol very well. If somebody was out there about to 

lob in some kind of a bomb or mortar or something, that plane was a 

whole lot bi~ger target than somebody out on the runway. If you're going 

to try to run for cover somewhere you'd at least have a place to go if 

you're out there. If you sit in that airplane, that wasn't the way to 

do it. So we decided that it was essential that we get off. It probably 

was anyway, because we were doing some things for the President. 

And the thing that I started to tell you that George Christian and 

I now kid a little about is that when we got off at that time at that 

airport, that for the first and only time that we can remember all these 

people weren't crowding around the President. If he was going to be the 

target and the President of Guaterala was going to be the target of 

somebody trying to get at then, these people who heretofore had wanted 

to be sure they ;ot close enough to have their pictures in the news 

fil~ or pictures in the still fil~ decided that it wasn't quit~ that 
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up going to Chicago on his birthday for a pat"ty--kind of a big convention 

party--for them to pay the tt"ibute to the President they ~ianted to pay. 

The people up there that had helped put it together had said that was 

what they wanted. Vice President Humpht"ey had indicated that's what he 

wanted. I thought that was what we would do. 

F: The:-e never was any question in your mind that Humphrey was the President's 

choi.:::e? 

T: No, I think not. I think he c tearly was the President's choice. I can't 

even think of anybody who was not in the running that the President 

might have preferred. 

In any event, we got down to the ranch, and there are those--as 

you and I talked about earlier, I guess before we got on tape--there are 

those who suggested that Lyndon Johnson was pulling the strings and 

controlling convention. Marvin Watson being out there helped to give 

rise to that. Marvin, like me, was named as a delegate to the convention 

because of his friendship for John Connally. Governor Connally called 

me and said, "I'm going to put you on as a delegate if you want to be 

a delegate." And I said, "Sure." This was 'way back in May or June; 

and did the same thing with Marvin. 

The President, obviously, was interested. There's not any question 

about that. In ~ jud~ent he was not manipulating or running the 

convention. People that were friends of his by and large were. It 

wasn't his enemies that ..... ere running ·it, but he wasn't running it. But 

he was interested. 

F: Was ~e on the phone much? 

T: No. The interestin; thing is that he did not want to be subjected to 

the c~arge of running the convention, and he avoided talking to ;~0ple 
:;epy iBJ UBRARY 
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The people up there at the outset in Chicago--and when I'm talking 

about the people, r'm again talking about the key people that were his 

friends. I'm talking about the Connallys and the tvatsons and the Jacob-

sons and the Dick Daleys and Buford Ellington, Governor of Tennessee, 

and others. They wanted the President to come up. Before the convention, 

this certainly was true. They wanted the President to come up because 

they knew that Democrats generally want to pay some kitrl of tribute to 

hir.l. 

Even at that tine once Lyndon Johnson announced that he was not going 

to seek nomination, would not accept nomination, and would not be a 

candidate for re-election, a lot of his opposition just dwindled out. 

I t's sort of like the people who aided Truman that thought he lolas a 

grand old man when he got out of office, and the President's popularity 

was going up, at that time, as it has gone up since. It was thought by 

the President's friends that even the people who had opposed him politi-

cally within the Democratic party \-]anted to pay tribute to him as being 

a man ,,,ho had done a lot for the party; a man who had been the party r s 

leader. They were urging him to coae. 

Then, of course, once the convention got started, and all that 

tragic situation that surrounded the conVe:1tion--~"'ithout trying to assess 

whose fault it was and exactly what happened, how it was precipitated. 

At least it ~7as very obvious--obvious from television without having to 

get the perso~al accounts--that there was a lot of unpleasant activity 

going o~ a~d people getting hurt and riots or near-riots taking place 

in Chica;o. _.l..nd questions became raised by the Secret Service--they ah.Jay's 

raise the fi=st q~estion a~out the President's safety--about the President's 
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safety. Then later, I think everybody ultimately concluded that Lyndon 

Johnson could go to Chicago and return with safety. You know, it ,.;auld 

be 2 hell of a thing to conclude that there were places in the United 

St2.~es that the President cannot go ,.;ith safety. 

F: Par~icularly to his own party. 

T: Tha:'s right. Lyndon Johnson was not prepared to conclude that there 

was any place in the United States that he had to decline to go out of 

fear. He never came to that conclusion and wasn't prepared to ever come 

to that conclusion. But because of the unruliness of the crowd within 

and ~'li thout the hall where the conv ention was being held, 'and because of 

all that unhappy, unpleasant activity--even in spite of the fact:there 

wer::: people still urging the President to come--I think he concluded 

th<.::: ::2 ought not to go. I think this was because--

I do think Lyndon Johnson wanted to go to Chicago. I haven't talked 

to E:-:-. about it since. I don I t know what h':'s recollection of it is. 

Ny :-ec::;llection is that at the tir::e he wanted to go. It was his birthday,. 

ane:" f they wanted to have a party for him, it 1:.;as his party. It was 

thE ?'O.-:.-:::.v that he had served and that had served him, and this was the last 

COL.~::,:::i..:~::. that he probably T;Jould go to. And I think he wanted to go. 

:)uc there were people up .there that told him that, in their judg-

mer:. - - -.~ ~·,e"t to Chicago, it would be the source of some embarrassment 

to :_~. _.:::.:.:.use a lot of these people ,:.]ithout thinking might boo him. 

His ~~-~2~~~ce might be the catalyst for some of these anti-war people 

to ,~:: 2:·:c,--,se to riot further and cause further unpleasant derr:onstr;].-

tic = :-:~~:..::~~ nc coC\clc:c.~d t:-.:-ct his presence at the convention would 

nor ~ , • r" ,~ -: ,..., ....... 

- ... _." ~, to che the the unity of the party or 

'- . . ,;lj.;,_, " 
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to the unity of the country; that on the other hand, his presence at the 

convention might cause some disruption that ~.]ould not othen'lise occur 

if he were not there. I think, with a lot of reluctance and with an awful 

lot of regret, he decided that it was just better for him not to go to 

the convention. I don't think that he declined to go and de~ided not 

to go because he thought that some booing ~vould embarrass him--although 

there were those in Chicago that didn't want him to go for that very 

reason. But I thi~k he just decided that no good purpose could be served 

by his presence, but some bad result might occur from it. 

I do think it was a disappointment, because I do think he ~vanted to 

to go. He ~.]anted to be there. And the reason I say· that is because--

I'm not a long-tine watcher of the Lyndon Johnson phenomena--but I know 

that when he gets unhappy he tends to have a shorter temper with people; 

and I knOtv that he "las having shorter temper when he ~.]as grappling wi th 

the problem and kind of short temper on other matters once he decided 

that he couldn't and wouldn't go. 

F: Did he as far as you kno""v ever make any offer to he.l-p Humphrey during the 

campaign? 

T: Yes, I think so. 

F: Do you believe the charge that he secretly hoped Nixon would win so thet 

it would give you a chance to assay the Democrats? 

T: No, I dOLl't believe that at all, and the reason I don't believe it is 

because he knew that there were some programs that he had started that 

had not reached their culmination. He also knew that Humphrey had been 

a part of those progra2s, and those programs would be carried through 

under Hur:-.phrey whereas Ender ~:ixon they'd probab ly be scuttled for SOMe 

nc':; <lnd d if ff: ren t ?ro;rams, or if they were the same progra:-:s--. You 
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knm.;, the name of the political game is a little bit different than 

a~:·thing else. History clearly shows that leaders sometimes scuttle the 

programs of their predecessor, and then resurrect the same progr~~ by a 

ne';-] narne so they can get credit for it. I'm not suggesting that Nixon 

h~s done that, but that's a potential danger. 

F: 0= you can finish the program, but drop the enthusiasm out of it until--

you're still following the program but--

T: Right. I don't have any doubt in my mind whatsoever hut that Humphrey 

wa3 clearly and unquestionab ly his only choice for the Presidency. Nmv 

he also, though, felt a responsibility. I think there were some Humphrey 

p~ople ,Jha are unhappy 'Hith him and thought he could do more than he 

did., and naybe by hindsight that r s right. I don't happen to think so., 

bu:: :':2.yD2 it I S right. But the President also remembered that in addi-

t~on to being maybe still the leader of his party--even though Humphrey 

was t~e nominee--ar maybe a co-leader or whatever name it goes by, that 

ir_ ;:cdition to that, he also was the President of the United States and 

n. :: -:.;: 1;-laS the j~.ldgnent 0 f the people that was going to prevail and not 

tL; jl.!cignent of Lyndon Johnson that was going to prevail as to ';vho his 

-=:: ::-.2 area of foreign affairs he ~vas particularly sensitive not 

to>.: ::'::-::jt::hing that "lOuld cause any advantage ar disadvantage from one 

Ca.::-::':'>.:2 or another. And also not to do anything which would be construed 

as'~ ~;:: ic.;J.l. He was ahvays saying, '~·!e 11, we can I t do that. I think 

it ~hing to do, but ~e may have to wait a little bit, or 

reo : ~ because so~ebody will say it's political and that'll ruin 

it .- '- -..!.... ki.ll it," r:e hau [113.[ kind of a problem. But I think he Has 
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for Humphrey, strongly! Everybody I kno'l that he talked to about the 

race, when he talked to them in My presence, he told them to get back and 

get out and help Humphrey. 

F: I haven't talked to either of the principals in this, but~ as you know, 

Connally and Ralph Yarborough, at least, had some show of unity during 

the latter stages of the campaign. Has the President instrumental in 

this, or was this just the fact that these two old-line Democrats that 

have come together because it's time to come together? 

T: I would say, the President was instrumental in that, indirectly, if not 

directly. Let me hark back to what I think I'may have told you in our 

initial interview. The relationship between Lyndon Johnson and John 

Connally is such, 2.nd for probably thirty years has been such, that they 

do a lot of private communication with each other that nobody else is 

privy to. You never really know when they've talked to each other and 

when they have, what they've said, because they're both pretty close-

mouthed about it. They don't say, "Well, let me tell you what I told 

John," or, "Let me tell you what I told the President," sort of thing. 

I've been on both ends, so I've got some idea about that. I know the 

President told Governor Connally that he desperately hoped that--rnaybe 

desperately is not the fair word--ardently hoped that the Governor would 

help Humphrey and do what he could to help him get elected. 

F: Do you think Connally had been secretly helping Nixon? 

T: No. I don't think he ever did. 

F: That charge has been made. 

T: Tnat charge has been made, and I don't think there's any truth to it; 

partic~larly the recent charges that you and I have seen. 

F: I haven't seen him since then, so I haven't asked him about that. 
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T: T~e charge was that he was secretly helping Nixon--particularly with money 

fro~ oil men--and that he was doing it in return for assurance that he 

~ould be Secretary of Defense, or some Cabinet post; and that only in 

the last three or four days ,.,Then he sa";-1 that Texas 'Has going Democratic 

a~d he decided that he didn't want it to go Democratic without him, that 

h~ showed up in the Astrodome with the President and Yarborough. 

The truth of the matter is he didn't show up at the Astrodome. He 

joined Yarborough in early October in Fort \Vorth and Dallas and Haco--

mo~e accurately joined Humphrey--he and Yarborough both joined Humphrey 

in a sho~ of unity. And I know it was a difficult thing for Governor 

Connally to do. He did dislike, and does dislike, Ralph Yarborough. He 

h~s mace no bones about it. 

F: 1::'3 mutual. 

T: And I know that that view is reCiprocally held by Yarborough. But I 

t::::..nk. that that demonstrates more than anything that Governor Connally 

w~~t26 Humphrey to get elected, and was helping Humphrey_ If he had been 

sec=etly for Nixon. Well, first of all, I don't find John Connally 

be:":',; secretly for anything. He's a man ~Jho's willing to get out there if 

he's for something and get his name attached to it. But if he had been 

S2 :':-·2 r::2..'.' for :iixon, all he had to do was just decline to show up with 

Y~:~c::-o~g~ and decline to give this appearance of harmony within the 

pa===:. :'hat ~'70uld have been the end of it. I think maybe this state--

If :~~~ C~nnally had wanted it to, I believe he had enough followers to 

d:':2'::.~:.' ~;:: indirectly get this state to go for Nixon. All you've got 

tc ~ __ 3~~ :he hair-thin ~2rgin of the election to conclude that. 

F: :~=~~=assing to the ?:esident in a sense, or annoying, the fact 
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corr.munication operator on Air Force One--the only time I every saw him--

sitting there with the communication corning in on what in a sense is a 

teletype-type thing--

•. Corning in in English or coded? 

T: I believe it was coming in in English. He pulled the curtain ~round hin 

where he sits there on the plane, it's sort of like you're in a voting 

booth type thing, and there's a curtain that goes around. All the time 

I was there and the literally dozens and dozens of times I was on Air 

Force One, I never S~N hin pull that curtain around him--and he did. 

When we landed, the ?resident had had some conversation on the ground with--. 

This is an interesting sidelight by the way. The President with his 

telephone on there could talk to \V'ashington in the air, but he had the 

view--and I think the cODmUnications people indicated to me time and 

again that he just l'las wrong--but he had the view that it was more 

secretive if he waited until he got on the ground and got hooked into 

ground co~unications; that it was more of a confidential thing. 

F: If it was from the plane, it just kind of scattered. 

T: The President never wanted to talk to anybody in the air. Now, I would 

talk; I l']OU ld talk back to my office, or a lot of times to the Attorney 

General, a lot of things while we Here in the air. But the President 

never l.]ould. He'd vlait until we'd get dO'tvn. 

Hhen '(.;'e got on the ground, he talked to tV'alt, I guess it was. He 

indicated something a~cut a breakthrough of the Russians where they had 

kind of agreed to have a meeting with him, probably in Russia. I remem-

ber that t::2 ?res idenc got out 0 f the airplane and 'Jent to the car and 

waited in t~e car. A~d he got very, very impatient and very irritated 
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because he was ,vanting this message to come through--wanted to read it. 

Thi s ,.;as Hhen the communications fellow had the curtain draped around him. 

The President kept saying, "Go back in there and tell him to hurry up." 

\o1'el1, there ,vasn't any \.Jay to hurry it. The machines clicks it out at 

a certain pace. It goes no faster or no slower than that macnine goes. 

All he's doing is--

F: Not even Lyndon Johnson can accelerate it. 

T: That's right. All hers doing is just getting it. I remember the Presi-

dent ,;vas aHrully impatient about it. I remember I got it and took it to 

him in an envelope. I didn't know what it was. George Christian then 

tol:1 file, he said, ''You kno,v, that is a very significant message--a 

bre.:::.kthrough diplomatically, and we may be going to Russia," I think was 

the co~e~t he told me later on. 

Then I remember the President commented on it a time or bvo very 

privately. I'd hear him talk to Secretary Rusk or Mrs. Johnson in the 

bedroo:n. I never mentioned a word of it except I thought that we 'Were 

going to a meeting in Russia some time in the fall;and that that 'Was 

What--I never did see this message, he didn't hand it to me or say, 

"Read it, and tell me 't.Jhat you think of it." But I remember that--

I be 1 ieve ';.Je were going to announce one morning, mid-morning or mid-day, 

that ~~e ?resident was going to Russia; and the night before that announce-

ment ~25 to be cade was when the Russians invaded czechoslovakia. And 

you ~-::--2-';, t:-:e b:::.ll gawe was over, so to speak. I was at the \mite House 

and -':J:-~:=-:-:~ ,:r:.at evening Hhen he assembled all the Sectlrity Council 

and ~~~~2~ ~~~ut it, but I didn't sit in on it. 

F: \,Jere >:.:~':ed at all in the tr3.nsitio:1 effort? 
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T: Not as directly as, say, Charlie Hurphy was. I was involved in them--

F: From your standpoint, how did it go? 

T: I thought very ,,,ell. 

F: Just in your own personal experience. 

T: I thought it went very well. I was kind of surprised. First of all, 

President Johnson ad~onished each of us individually and collectively, 

44 

to leave nothing undone in being helpful to the Nixon people. He said, 

"you just do what you would want somebody to do for you if you were coming 

in." And I must say I remembered when I was coming in with John Con-

nally in January of '63, and I had some feeling for how difficult it is 

with some folks who don't know what was going on. 

I rerr.ember that I thought at the time that the counterpart to at 

least some of what I was doing would be John Erlichman. That was the 

indication I had as a ~4tter of fact. I was impressed not only by 

Erlichman but by really everybody else that I met. Erlichman and 

Haldeman and--. I can't remember now who all the others were, but those 

two stick in my mind, and the others are characteristic. That while I 

thought each of them to be very, very efficient and very knowledgeable 

about what >vas going on, I also found them to be pretty cold fishes. He 

tried to be nice to them. We had sort of a joint cocktail party, I 

remember at on.e time, down in the White House Hess where we kind of 

mixed and ningled and we all had a little drink. It was late in the 

afternoon. They were even very cold then--very formal, and very bus-

inesslike. 

I never could decide whether it was beca~se they thought that we 

were a bunch of buffoons who didn't know what we were doing and they were 
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going to co~e in and correct all the ills of the country, or whether it 

was ~aybe some deep-seated lack of trust or confidence in us~ or what 

it ',Jas.. But I ren;er;:!Jer very clearly in my mind what I thought to be a 

very formalistic, cold attitude from them. An example of it: I had a 

conversation '.-lith John Erlichman one time, and I said, "Joh£l, I understand 

very ~ell that each Administration will conduct some of its activities 

in its o~n way and differently. One of the things that I have been 

respo~sible for is the handling and the conduit for appointments to 

the federal judiciary. I have had H'arren Chris topher, the Deputy At-

torney General, put together a menorandum spelling out in detail how they 

handle these nominations from their standpoint, and I can put together 

a memorandum saying how we handle the nominations. Not" I'm not sugges ting 

to you that you want to handle it the same way at all, but at laast 

this will give you an idea of how we did it. If you think there are 

any defects to it, you'll knOH what they are, and you can change it. 

I'll be glad to do that if you'd like that, you think it would be 

he lpful." 

I reme,~ber he very coolly said to me) 'tyes, that'll be all right) 

if that's what you 'Hant to do," and didn't really seem to want it at all. 

It was all I could do--it was only because of my very recent admonish-

ment rrOQ the President to be nice that I didn't say anything more. 

But I just said, ''?~O'...1, I don't have this yet, and I'll have to 

put it ~ogether. If you're just going to discard it and don't have 

any use for it, I don't particularly want to go to the trouble of put-

ting it ':c;;2ther. I do.-.'t need it for my files." 

,"-nd :-,2 said, "Yes, \.Jny don't you put it together!" Hhich, ,.;ith 
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so~e reluctance after that kind of reception, I did. He had gone back 

to New York where they l.ere staying, and I sent it to him--sent mine and 

Harren Chirstopher's memorandum to him, saying again, ''Here are the 

me~oranda as to hOtol we handle it. If you have any questions or there's 

anything further that I can get for you, I'll be happy to do it: I never 

eve~ got a response to the letter. 

So I remember the transition. I think it went very smoothly, as 

a matter of fact. I think things went very well. 

F: There was no di~inution of pace in those closing days? 

T: No. It was a difference--

F: You didn't paase out. You just went up and quit? 

T: That's right. There was a difference. I think that, because of what I 

lolas telling you about in the Wirtz episode of the President saying, 

"He Ire not going to start anything new that can be held off," we weren't 

in the initiation stages of anything. But we were in the culmination 

stages of an awful lot of things. But the pace didn't slacken at all. 

I didn't see any slackening of pace until high noon January 20. 

F: Were you involved in that last-minute Udall episode? 

T: Yes and no. DeVier Pierson probably could give you the full reading on 

that. I was there. 

F: Udall'has given it to me. 

T: I was there, and I remember the President looked upon the renaming of t'~e ________ _ 

~emoral stadium--D.C. Stadium in ~{ashington--as the Robert F. Kennedy 

~lemorial Stadium by Udall as being intentionally trying to take a poke at 

him by Udall, because although unquestionably Udall had the authority to 

do that, that is not the type of thing that a Cabinet Officer w.ou.~d 

have done without at least telling the President. 
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INTERVIElEE: U,.RRY TEMPLE (TAPE ff 8) 

11\TIRVIE~rsR: JOE B. FRANTZ 

August 13, 1970, Austin, Texas 

T: Wha: I was saying is that this renaming of the stadium after a very 

well-~no,~ and controversial political figure like that, is not the type 

of t:-,ing that a Cabinet Officer ordinarily v]Quld do without advising the 

Presiderrt about it ahead of time--not clearing it with him, but advising 

him ~f it. The President didn't learn about ~t until after it waS 

annCUGCCo, and a fait accomnli. That just, I think, was done by Udall 

wi tr: :1.:11 knowledge of what he "las doing. He knew that this was the type 

of t~i~g he probably should advise the President of, but he intentionally 

didn't. 

I \'las there on--I just remember it was a Saturday ~.]hen all of the 

big ,: lap :Je t,:·;een the President and Udall transpired. It seemed to me like 

it w .~. ::; 2. - .-

F: You ~ad :~e other problem, of course, that Udall set aside this great 

gob and the President wouldn't go with it, and Udall had to back 

dm·m. 

T: Righ:. c. ',;23 there vlhen the flap carne up over that. I remember that he 

~ .. as ~::~.~:'.·d=-~C: to see Udall and DeVier on that Saturday to talk about that. 

It s",::-:: c:::: '":.2 l:~-:e the appointr::ent ,",'as t,,;o or three in the afternoon. 

Jim "-.:0 G'..:.t of to~m for some reason. He had [recently] been married 

appo .. 
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in the day, and, by hindsight, I knm.] that he went ovec this tI'.atter t'7ith 

him. 

Then DeVier got Udall over there and was talking to him and called 

and said, "Secretary Udall is in my office. See if the President would 

like to see us." I t·]ent in and told the President. The President ,.,/as 

very irritated and said, "Not.,/, I told DeVier tm t I wanted him to work 

out with Udall. I don't want to talk to him while they're seeing if 

they can work it out. If I'd wanted to do that, I'd have gotten him over 

here and I'd have worked it out with him. You tell him to finish working 

it out, and when he gets it tvorked out, come back to me. I don't want 
to talked to then while they're working it out." He said it in a little 

bit stronger tone than that, as I have a very vivid recollection. I told 

DeVier Pierson that, and DeVier and Udall spent the rest of the afternoon--

it was a Saturday and Sunday. As a matter of fact, I'm inclined to think 

this might have been the Saturday and Sunday before the 20th-- the follOt.]-

ing Heek--. 

F: It was. It was that last weekend, the very tag end. 

T: Before the follmJing Honday noon. 

F: Monday noon was when it was all over. 

T: That's when it was then. I never did get into the details of the 

controversy, and that really was a Lyndon Johnson-Stu Udall-DeVier 

Pierson activity. 

F: What was your last morning at the White House like--on that Nonday 

morning? It all ended on January 20, Nonday, at noon. 

T: ife::y hec:::i.c. J:"ne President had invited me and my family to ride back 

to Texas ore Ai.r Force On~ ';-7ith hiIi'.. \·le had made arrangements for a 
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young Dan who was coming down in this direction to drive our car so T."e 

didn't have the problem of the car. My wife--as she said she has done 

ever since we've been married--moved us. When we've moved, she says 

r'm never around, and that certainly was true then. This very weekend 
, 

we're talking about the movers came out and packed us up and moved 

everything out of our house and headed toward Texas with it. t{e had 

tur~ed the keys over to a real estate agent who was selling it for us. 

My ~Ji£e I s brother and his family lived in Annapolis, still do, ,.here he 

tea~hes in the Naval Academy; so my wife and children went over there and 

sta-,-ec. ~.;i th ther.! and I stayed in a hotel in lolashington. 

38::)re I get to the last day, let me tell you about the last night 

whL::-:' -:Oil probably have heard from others. Lyndon Johnson and Mrs. 

JOh~S0~ I believe did the nicest thing for their staff--staff§, both of 

the)~, ~je PreSident's staff and Mrs. Johnsonrs staff--that could possibly 

have ~2en done. I would think that the last night that they were going 

to~-::c~::d in the Whi te House would be of such significance to them that 

the-' ,:11.;[1 t ."ant to have the Cabinet in--key leaders of Congress, or just 

have :~2ir family if they wanted to go in another direction. But what 

the:' ~2c~~ed to do was have a relatively small, very, very nice buffet-

coc::: :z..~. '- ?2rty for the staff in the White House in the Hansion on the 

sec::::".:: :~oor. 

F: Jus- ~~l~: and mates? 

T: And ~l:~~--~nd spouses. It was as nice and as fun--under fairly sad 

cir -: :.~-:-.':: _:~ ;::::es in a "lay--as any thin; that transpir<~d during the time I 

was ~h2 President was nat diminished one bit by the fact 

the: - s ~~s last night. I th~nk he's the greatest story teller 
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I ever heard, bar none, and he was in good form that night. It was kind 

of like a yo-yo, kind of back and forth. He waS in great form, and then 

he'd be quiet awhile- and he'd look very sad and very unhappy; and then 

he'd get back into it with his loud, booming voice, telling some story 

with all the motions that he puts into a story. 

F: He wasn't attempting though to induce any kind of real sentimentality? 

T: Not a~ all. 

F: And ~ake the tears flow. 

T: Not at all. There was some dancing. They had a little orchestra up 

there, and there was sone dancing. I think maybe a little Marine, four 

or five-piece orchestra. I remember the only sad thing was they struck 

up "Hello Dolly," and everybody on the staff sang the "Hello Lyndon" 

song that brought 10 ts of tears to lots of eyes, not the least of "(olhom 

was the President. 

He made a little speech for the end of it that was a sort of thank-

you speech, but much more eloquent than just saying thank you. I don't 

even re~ember the words of it. I remember it was very moving at the time. 

It was just a lovely, lovely evening. I remember so well how thoughtful 

a gesture I thought it ~.;ras at the time, and my thoughts about it haven't 

changed any since then. But that ,-las the last night. 

The last day, I believe that--first of all, from my standpoint, I 

spent the night in a hotel with my ,.ife. My children "(-lere over in Anna-

polis. She got up early the next morning to go get them in a car that 

I think we rented or borrowed or something. 

f: You hadn't lost your White House car, had you? 

T: Dut I d ~ci:l. I t use tht:: T .. :'hite House car to transport my wife around) 

althau;h so~e did. I h~d a little reticence about that. But sh~ left, 

" :;CPV i.8J UBRARY ;< 
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and I got to the White House, and it was a busy, busy morning . First of
all--

F : Did it start out as routine? I mean, did you go to the bedroom or--?
T : First of all, I didn't go to the bedroom . I was tying up some loose

ends on something . Since then, Harry Middleton, who is helping-the

President write his book, called me not long ago, and he said : "I see
by t :~e diary here that the President called you at nine-fifty, and--it
seers to me like he left the White House at eleven, and he called me
like ten-twenty--and he said, I'm writing this . What was he calling you
about?"

And I said, "The truth of the matter is I don't remember, All I
remember, it was some little project that he chastised me because we
hadn't tied up the ends on, and I told him I was finishing it up that
day . He was chastising me pretty severely about waiting until the last
minute ." It seems to me like it was something we started Saturday, so
it wasn't waiting too much to the last minute about finishing it up .
But I remember it was a very, very hectic pace, because there were some
things that had to be done that he wanted done . It was a matter of just
finis-i them up,

of course, he left at, it seems to me like, maybe ten-thirty
or to go to the swearing-in ceremony, I didn't go to that .
And I t . .~.L` as your records reflect, he went from there to Clark Clif
ford's :': ::use for a little farewell luncheon .

r : Now a- : -:~~- `-es had preceded They aad gone so you were just
work- : was on top of your desk, in effect .

T : Yes . u,ere still t =-e . Both of them were there, and ~Ye
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were finishing up. I think there may have been still some papers that 

they lolere going to take when I left. 

F: Had your successors begun to move in yet? 

T: No, but they ~V'ere going to move in that afternoon. 

F: It wasn't going to be long. 

T: I rece~ber--

F: Is there a general kind of a clean-stveep down J fore-and-aft thing~ at 

that t~e to get the thing--

T: Pretty ~uch. You k~ow, you clear out all the papers--all the books out 

of the shelves, all the papers, everything! I remember my good friend 

Joe Califano--. As you know, there's a Presidential phone system that 

everybody among at least the seven or eight key staff people--I guess 

there ':veren' t more than about seven or eight that had on their telephone 

a little red line that had "POTUS" on it. POTUS--President of the 

United States is what the POTUS stood for. The President had a button 

on his telephone with my name on it. If he pressed that button and 

picked up his receiver, it rang in my office--and it didn-'t just ring, 

it didn't just buzz, but as I'm sure you know from being there, it sounded 

like a fire alarm going on. There was never any question when the Presi-

dent was calling you. Nobody had else had that, and it clearly was the 

President. He had those buttons in his office--all the phones in his 

office--in his bedroom, and in the second floor sitting room. So he 

called all the time, and everybody, when that phone rang, whatever they 

were doing--if they were talking to somebody they either cut them off 

or put then on hold, not because you felt an urgency to cut off a second 

or two in getting over there, but you really wanted to cut off that 
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loud ding of the ring. And everybody always answered it, "Yes, sir," 

or, "Yes, sir, Hr. President." Occasionally it wouldn't be the Presi-

de:1t. For example, I'd be in his office and he'd say, "Call George and 

ask him something," and I might ring George and talk to him. 

F: You noticed the difference in tone when it was you and George answered--

when he heard it was you? 

T: He'd say, "yes , 5 ir," and then I'd say, "George, this is Larry. The 

President wants to know so-and-so." There is a big difference, yes. 

But I remember that I thought that the last gesture that I ought to 

do was--Joe Califano was down in his office and just as soon as the Presi-

dent left and went on and got in the car--we were watching it on tele-

vision, we didn't have to be over in the front of the Mansion, we were 

watching it on television. I went to the President's office and punched 

Joe Califano's button; and picked it up, and it rang in his office while 

he was trying to pack and everything. I remember he grabbed the pbone and 

said, "Yes, sir, Mr. President." All he had to do was to have watched 

television to know it couldn't be the President because the President 

had jus~ gotten in the car with Nixon--

F: He h~d been suckered. 

T= Anyway, he said, ''Yes, sir, Hr. President," and I just said, trGo to 

hell, lee Califano," and hung up. The girls in his office tell me that 

there ~~s j~st this kind of look of shock or surprise on his face, and 

it toak hi~ a few minutes to comprehend exactly what was happening. That 

was ~~ 123c use of that phone system. 

~e ~~~ pack up then, and I ~et the President at the airport. 

And ~~~C ~as 2~other--
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F: You tJere on your mm from the time you lci£t--from the time, in effect, 

he left and the time you left the Uhite House until you showed up at 

Andrews? 

T: At AndretJs, right. And it ,1asn r t very long to be on my own. I jus t '-lent 

on out there and met my lJife and children who t-lere there. 

F: On a cold, raw day_ 

T: On a very cold, raw day. But it was a very moving ceremony at the airport~ 

with an awful lot of people but there--a tremendous number of people, 

and a great outpouring of all of his friends, his Cabinet, key Congres-

sional leaders--the whole thing. 

Just as an interesting sidelight, here a Republican President had 

just been sworn in. The Republican Administration had begun. The parade 

was still going on, as a matter of fact. And one of the people at the 

airport was George Bush! I saw him and told him then and told him later, 

I said, "George, I don't know what you're out here for, but I want 

you to know among the people that are appreciative of it is me. I think 

it's a very kind gesture." 

And he said, J~vell, he's my PreSident, and he is leaving town; and 

I didn't want him to leave this town vlithout my being out here and 

paying my respects to him. I have great respect for his successor, but 

his successor is going to be here. And I'm going to have the opportunity 

for a long tine to cow.e to see him. But he was, up until an hour ago, 

wi President and he's leaving this town. The very least I can do is to 

be here and pey r.:y :-espects." 

F: I S2.~·l hir.., I said the saTICe thing to him, i?nd got almos t the same reply 

with the only variation at all was that he said, ''He has been '01._ 

. COPY !.Ill LIBRARY J 
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President, and he's al~'O my leader from my home state, and I didn't think 

I belonged an),'where else." And I thought it'tl1as quite a gesture. 

T: Oh, I did, too. Of course, that was kind of a sad time at the airport. 

There were a lot of tears on a lot of people's faces out there on that 

occasion. You were on the plane back, weren't you, Joe? 

F: Yes. I was going to ask you though, to get it on tape, 't-lhat was the 

mood like on the plane coming back? 

T: Hore routine than sad or relieved or anything. It l-laS very quiet. I 

re~illber, because my family was there I didn't go into the President's 

compartment as much as I--I usually was in the President's compartment 

when I was on the plane with him, but I waBn't there as much. I remember 

the President was in his bedroom resting most of the time. I remember 

he came out into the other compartment, and I remember that he '-las 

sitting up in his--He usually ate on the airplane, but he obviously had 

jus t gotten through eating over at Clark Clifford I shouse.. I wouldn't 

really characterize it as happy or unhappy or relieved. It was just 

kind of quiet. There was a little activity going on. 

F: Did he ever co~ent to you on the reception he got at Bergstrom? 

T: Yes. I think he was surprised. I don't think he ever anticipated that 

reception. 

F: I got the feeling--in fact, pretty straight, that he discouraged any at-

te~?t to get a crowd out down here. 

T: He did. 

F: But other people worked behind the scenes. 

T: As a cat~er of fact, I was one of the people that helped because--I 

wasn't trying to generate a crowd, but I was helping to tell the.people 
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about what time ~.;e 'd be there. They said--these are local people that 

want to be there--if he's corning back to our state~ we want to greet 

hin. Hhen is it going to be?,r And I didn't say, "Oh, now, the Presi-

dent doesn r t want you to have this. II As a matter of fact, I did say, 

trThe President has indicated he doesn't want this, but I think i.t' s a 

good i'dea. II Then I he Iped them wi th the timing on it, and it was a 

genui!!e thing here. Nobody had drummed it up. 

F: One of the worst traffic jams in history. I don't kno"t-1 whether you 

stuck around for it or not. 

T: I stuck around a whole lot longer than I wanted to because we got out 

there and couldn't ge t ai~ay from Bergs tram. I remember one street got 

closed up because of a wreck or something. But the President had generated 

crowds--. Let me tell you that everybody that knows a political opera-

tive knmysthat sometimes there are crowds that are generated--that's 

the reason you send out advance men sometimes--but this was just a--

F: That's the reason you have helicopters in a Senatorial campaign. 

T: That's right. But this one i-laS a very genuine crowd that came out all 

of their own volition. And I guess that's about the end of what I know. 

F: That's good. And I thank you, Larry. 
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